
   

 
 

 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL 

REGULATORY AND APPEALS COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Tuesday, 6 September 2016 
 
Time:  10.00 am 
 
Place: Dining Room, Council House, Old Market Square  
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 

 
Corporate Director for Resilience 
 
Governance Officer: Mark Leavesley   Direct Dial: 0115 876 4302 
 

   
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
If you need advice on declaring an interest, please contact the 
Governance Officer above, if possible before the day of the meeting 
 

 

3  MINUTES  
Last meeting held on 16 August 2016 (for confirmation) 
 

3 - 4 

4  ADOPTION OF ENFORCEMENT, CONVICTIONS AND FITNESS 
POLICY  
Report of Director of Community Protection 
 

5 - 26 

5  DRIVER IMPROVEMENT PENALTY POINT SCHEME  
Report of Director of Community Protection 
 
 

27 - 34 

CITIZENS ATTENDING MEETINGS ARE ASKED TO ARRIVE AT LEAST 15 
MINUTES BEFORE THE START OF THE MEETING 

 
CITIZENS ARE ADVISED THAT THIS MEETING MAY BE RECORDED BY 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC. ANY RECORDING OR REPORTING ON THIS 
MEETING SHOULD TAKE PLACE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

COUNCIL’S POLICY ON RECORDING AND REPORTING ON PUBLIC 
MEETINGS, WHICH IS AVAILABLE AT WWW.NOTTINGHAMCITY.GOV.UK. 

INDIVIDUALS INTENDING TO RECORD THE MEETING ARE ASKED TO 
NOTIFY THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE IN ADVANCE.

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL  
 
REGULATORY AND APPEALS COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Loxley House, Station Street, on 16 August 
2016 from 10.30am - 10.55am 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Brian Grocock (Chair) 
Councillor Liaqat Ali   (minutes 13 and 14 only) 
Councillor Jim Armstrong 
Councillor Mohammad Ibrahim 
Councillor Gul Nawaz Khan  (minutes 13 and 14 only) 
Councillor Sally Longford 
Councillor Linda Woodings 
 

Councillor Rosemary Healy 
Councillor Glyn Jenkins 
Councillor Sue Johnson  
Councillor Dave Liversidge  
Councillor Carole McCulloch 
Councillor David Smith 
Councillor Mick Wildgust 
 

Colleagues in attendance 
 
David Gleedwood ) Delta Love Productions   
Robert Gleedwood )    
     
Ann Barrett - Solicitor to the Committee  ) Resources 
Mark Leavesley - Governance Officer )  
 
 
 
10  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Councillor Healy  ) annual leave 
Councillor Jenkins  ) 
 
Councillor Johnson  )  
Councillor Smith  ) personal  
Councillor Wildgust  )  
 
11  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
12  MINUTES 

 
The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2016 as a 
correct record and they were signed by the Chair. 
 
13  DELTA LOVE PRODUCTIONS, 147 RADFORD ROAD, HYSON GREEN, 

NG7 5EH - APPLICATION FOR RENEWAL OF SEX ESTABLISHMENT 
LICENCE 

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Community Protection 
regarding an application for the renewal of a Sex Establishment Licence for the 
premises known as Delta Love Productions, 147 Radford Road, Hyson Green, 
Nottingham, NG7 5EH. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Regulatory and Appeals Committee - 16.08.16 

2 

 
Robert and David Gleedwood accepted the Committee’s invitation to attend the 
meeting, summarised the history of the premises and answered questions from 
Councillors. 
 
RESOLVED to grant the renewal of the Sex Establishment Licence for the 
premises known as Delta love Productions, 147 Radford Road, Hyson Green, 
Nottingham, NG7 5EH, subject to the Council’s standard conditions of licence. 
 
14  REVIEW OF PROCEDURE IN RELATION TO THE HEARING OF SEX 

ESTABLISHMENT RENEWAL APPLICATIONS AND CONSEQUENTIAL 
POLICY AMENDMENT 

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Community Protection 
regarding a proposed change to the procedure, adopted by the Committee in 2010, in 
relation to uncontested sex establishment renewal applications. 
 
RESOLVED that  
 
(1) Committee resolution 13(5) dated 19 July 2010 is rescinded; 
 
(2) the determination of all applications relating to sex establishments other 

than non-contested transfers and non-contested renewals be reserved to 
this Committee 

 
(3) the Licensing Manager, the Chief Licensing, Trading Standards and ASB 

Officer and the Director of Community Protection, in consultation with 
the Chair and Opposition Spokesperson, be authorised under delegated 
powers to determine any future non-contested transfers and non-
contested renewal applications relating to sex establishments; 

 
(4)  the Licensing Manager be authorised to amend the Council’s ‘Sex 

Establishments Policy and Procedures’ document (January 2011) to: 
 
 (a) reflect the changes in resolutions (2) and (3) above; and 
  
 (b)  remove any reference to the transitionary provisions of the  

  Policing and Crime Act 2009 as they are no longer relevant.

Page 4



 

REGULATORY & APPEALS COMMITTEE – 6 SEPTEMBER 2016 
 

   

 Title: Adoption of Enforcement, Convictions and Fitness Policy 

 
Director: Andrew Errington 

 
Wards affected:   ALL 

Report author and 
contact details: 
 

Angela Rawson, Licensing Manager 
angela.rawson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
0115 8761749 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

Ann Barrett – Team Leader, Legal Services 
ann.barrett@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
0115 8764411 
 

 

Relevant Council Plan Key Theme: 

Strategic Regeneration and Development  

Schools  

Planning and Housing  

Community Services  

Energy, Sustainability and Customer  

Jobs, Growth and Transport  

Adults, Health and Community Sector  

Children, Early Intervention and Early Years  

Leisure and Culture  

Resources and Neighbourhood Regeneration  

 

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):  
 
The creation of a policy which gives clear guidance on enforcement, the weight of convictions and 
medical requirements, which is of benefit to officers, applicants (existing and new) and users alike. 
 

 

Recommendations: 
 

 
1 

 
That the Committee consider the document at Appendix 1 with a view to its approval with 
immediate effect. 
 

 
2 

 
That the Licensing Manager be authorised to make minor amendments to the policy as 
reflected in legislation and/or changes in procedure following consultation with the Chair of the 
Regulatory & Appeals Committee. 
 

 
 
1 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
1.1 The policy is designed to assist the decision making process when considering 

whether an applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a Combined Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Driver with Nottingham City Council. 

 
 
 Page 5

Agenda Item 4

mailto:angela.rawson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

2 BACKGROUND (INCLUDING OUTCOMES OF CONSULTATION) 
 
2.1 Nottingham City Council (The Council) has a responsibility to ensure that all drivers 

of Nottingham City Council licensed vehicles adhere to minimum standards and to 
apply this in a consistent and transparent manner. The standards concerned are 
defined by legislation, licence conditions, byelaws adopted by the Council and in 
this Scheme. Together they identify what is expected and required of the trade and 
help to ensure a consistent approach is taken when applying those expectations. 

 
2.2  The Council is the Licensing Authority responsible for the licensing of hackney 

carriage and private hire driver, vehicle and operator licences within its boundaries. 
It is the statutory duty of the Council to ensure that all drivers are ‘fit and proper 
persons and carry out their trade in accordance with licensing legislation and locally 
prescribed conditions.  

 
2.3 The document has been created taking into account the Rehabilitation of Offenders 

Act 1975 as amended and guidance from the Department of Transport. 
 
2.4 The policy is designed to explain the process whilst providing a transparent 

document to assist officers in their decision making process when considering if 
applicants are fit an proper to be granted a licence for the purpose of conveying 
members of the public in a licensed vehicle. 

 
2.5 The proposals also underpin the Councils responsibility in relation to the 

safeguarding of vulnerable persons by giving clear direction to the decision makers. 
 
2.6 The policy will not preclude the Council from taking alternative enforcement action if 

appropriate as required by the individual merits of each case. 
 
2.7 Any driver who is refused a licence, has a licence suspended or has a licence 

revoked by this Authority has a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court.  
 
3 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED IN MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 None 
 
4 FINANCE COMMENTS (INCLUDING IMPLICATIONS AND VALUE FOR 

MONEY/VAT) 
 
4.1 None  
 
5 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT COMMENTS (INCLUDING RISK MANAGEMENT 

ISSUES, AND LEGAL, CRIME AND DISORDER ACT AND PROCUREMENT 
IMPLICATIONS) 

 
5.1 Whilst the Council is bound to determine each application on a case by case basis it 

is entitled to adopt a policy to enable it to deal with a class of application.  Such 
policies should not be applied inflexibly and the officers exercising delegated powers 
to determine licence applications and reviews will maintain discretion to depart from 
the policy where good reason is shown to exist. 

 
5.2  The proposed Policy document is not dissimilar to one previously adopted by this 

Committee which has operated successfully for a number of years. It has however 
been updated and some new criteria have been introduced.  

 
Page 6



 

5.3 A driver’s or operator’ s licence can be refused  if the applicant is not deemed to be fit 
and proper, or can be, suspended or revoked if certain types of offences or breaches 
of licensing law have been committed or “ for any other reasonable cause”. In 
determining these matters the Council (and the Court on any subsequent appeal) 
should therefore seek to apply a proportionate and reasonable approach. 

 
5.4 The Committee should therefore assess this Policy in the light of whether it feels it to 

be justified, reasonable and proportionate. As indicated in the main body of the report 
each decision the council makes in respect of driver’s and operator’s licences carries 
a right of appeal to the magistrates court and the adoption of this policy itself would 
potentially be challengeable by Judicial Review. Such challenges carry costs 
consequences not only in terms of whether the Court orders the Council to pay a 
successful appellant’s costs but in terms of officer time and associated costs in 
defending such appeals. 

 
5.5  Whilst a majority of the Policy deals with criminal convictions and behaviours in their 

widest sense a new section has been introduced to deal with breaches of Traffic 
Regulation Orders. This is not specifically catered for within the legislation and would 
fall to be assessed against the “any other reasonable cause “criteria. A similar 
approach in terms of sanction for breach of TRO was taken during the latter part of 
last year for a short period. This received mixed results with some drivers accepting 
and serving their suspensions and with two appeals (for the same driver) being 
granted. The Committee might wish to bear this in mind in determining whether they 
feel the Policy as a whole, or this part of it in particular, is justified, reasonable and 
proportionate. 

 
6 STRATEGIC ASSETS & PROPERTY COMMENTS (FOR DECISION RELATING 

TO ALL PROPERTY ASSETS AND ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE) (AREA 
COMMITTEE REPORTS ONLY) 

 
6.1 None 
 
7 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
7.1 Not required. 
 
8 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS OTHER THAN PUBLISHED WORKS OR 

THOSE DISCLOSING CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 

8.1 None 
 
9 PUBLISHED DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN COMPILING THIS REPORT 
 
9.1 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) (Amendments) Order 2002 
 Guidance from Department of Transport 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

1 
 

C I T Y  O F  N O T T I N G H A M    

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire  
Enforcement, Convictions and Fitness Policy 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 It is the responsibility of Nottingham City Council (referred to as the Council) 

to issue Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licences under the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the Town Police 
Clauses Act 1847. In exercising this duty the Council will consider the safety 
of the public as its primary consideration. This Policy gives guidance to those 
exercising the Council’s powers in relation to Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire licensing in determining whether or not an applicant or existing licence 
holder is fit and proper to hold such a licence. 

 
1.2 In the interest of public safety and to safeguard vulnerable persons , the 

licensing authority seek to ensure: 
  

 That a person is a fit and proper person in accordance with Sections 
51 and 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 (Part II); 

 That the person does not pose a threat to the public; 

 That the public are safeguarded from dishonest persons; 

 The safety of children, young persons and vulnerable adults. 
 

1.3  The term “Fit and Proper Person” for the purposes of licensing is not legally 
defined and in assessing whether someone may be “Fit & Proper” the 
Licensing Authority will consider the following, and take any other relevant 
information into account: 
 

 Criminality; 

 Human Rights; 

 Period of holding a driver’s licence; 

 Number of endorsed driving licence penalty points; 

 Right to work; 

 Medical fitness; 

 Driving ability test; 

 The fitness and proprietary of Private Hire Operators, ensuring the 
business is run in a safe and professional manner, having regard to 
management controls, compliance with the law and that drivers are 
properly monitored to ensure that they behave in an appropriate 
manner and comply with their duties and responsibilities, including 
the monitoring of drivers hours; 

 The conduct of the applicant in making the application (e.g. whether     
they have acted with openness and integrity during the application 
process); 

 The previous licensing history of existing / former licence holders 
and any complaints made against them and investigated by any local 
authority licensing service. 

 Page 9



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

2 
 

In addition the Council will also consider further information if it is before it 
from sources such as the Police, Children and Adult Safeguarding Boards and 
other statutory agencies. 

 
1.4  This policy provides guidance to any person with an interest in taxi and private 

hire licensing. In particular, but not exclusively: 
 

 Applicants for a driver’s licence; 
 Existing licensed drivers whose licences are being reviewed; 
 The holders of Private Hire Operators licences; 
 Licensing officers; 
 Members of the Regulatory and Appeals Committee; 
 Magistrates hearing appeals against local authority decisions. 

 
1.5  In considering this guidance the Council will be mindful that each case must 

be considered on its individual merits and, where the circumstances demand, 
the committee may depart from the guidelines. Where an applicant has been 
convicted of a criminal offence, the licensing authority cannot review the 
merits of the conviction [Nottingham City v Mohammed Farooq (1998)]. 

 
1.6  In this policy ‘from date sentence has ended’ is taken to be the date which is 

reached once the whole of the period as sentenced by the court has elapsed 
and not necessarily the length of time served by the applicant. For example, if 
a sentence is five years imprisonment then the date that the sentence ends 
will be five years from the date of sentencing – regardless of the amount of 
time actually served in prison by the applicant.  If the sentence is amended by 
a court at a later date then this new sentence becomes relevant for the 
purposes of this policy. The term ‘since completion of sentence’ is to be 
construed in a similar way. 

 
1.7 In this policy information other than convictions will be taken into account and 

can include but is not restricted to, cautions, warnings, reprimands, fixed 
penalty notices and driver behaviour.  

 
1.8 In this policy the word ‘applicant’ refers to either new applicants existing 

licence holders seeking to renew licences and existing licence holders whose 
licences are being reviewed.  

 
2. General Policy 

 
2.1 Whilst the Council may consider that a person with a conviction for a serious 

offence may not need to be automatically barred from obtaining a licence, it is 
however to be normally expected that the applicant would be required to: 
 
a. Remain free of conviction for an appropriate period as detailed below; and 
 
b. Show adequate evidence that they are a fit and proper person to hold a 

licence (the onus will be on the applicant to produce such evidence). 
 
Simply remaining free of conviction may not generally be regarded as 
adequate evidence that a person is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 

 

Page 10



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

3 
 

2.2 The Council may depart from this policy if good reasons exist. The otherwise 
good character and driving record of the applicant or licence holder will not 
ordinarily be considered as exceptional circumstances. 

 
2.3 Outstanding Charges or Summonses 
 

If an outstanding charge or summons involves a serious offence and/or the 
individual’s conviction history indicates a possible pattern of unlawful 
behaviour or character trait, then in the interests of public safety the 
application should normally be put on hold until proceedings are concluded or 
the licence may be refused. 

 
2.4  Additional information 
 

The Council retains discretion to take into account any other information 
relating to an applicant’s behaviour, notwithstanding the fact that the matter(s) 
have not resulted in criminal proceedings.  

 
2.5 In assessing the action to take, the safety of the public must be the paramount 

concern. 
 
2.6 Where an applicant has had a Hackney Carriage/Private hire driver’s licence 

revoked by another local authority, the Council will not normally grant a 
licence unless sufficient time has passed or circumstances have changed 
since the revocation took place and the Council is satisfied that the applicant 
is a fit and proper person 

 
3.  Powers 
 
3.1  Section 61 and Section 62 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 allow the licensing authority to suspend, revoke or 
refuse to renew a licence under certain circumstances. 

    
3.2  The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions)(Amendment) Order 

2002, allows the licensing authority to take into account all convictions 
recorded against an applicant or the holder of a Private Hire Vehicle or 
Hackney Carriage driver’s licence, whether spent or not. Therefore the 
licensing authority will have regard to all relevant convictions, particularly 
where there is a long history of offending or a recent pattern of repeat 
offending. In accordance with this Act, all convictions, cautions, warnings and 
reprimands must be declared by the Applicant. 

 
3.3  Under the provisions of Sections 51, 55 and 59, Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, the licensing authority is required to be 
satisfied that an applicant for the grant or renewal of a Hackney Carriage 
and/or a Private Hire Vehicle driver’s licence and/or Private Hire Vehicle 
Operator’s licence is a “fit and proper” person to hold such a licence. The 
authority will consider: 
 

1. How relevant any recorded/reported offence(s) are to the licence 
being applied for 

 
a. How serious the offence(s) are/were; 
b. When the offence(s) were committed; 

Page 11



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

4 
 

c. The date of conviction; 
d. Circumstances of the individual concerned; 
e. Sentence imposed by the court; 
f. The applicant’s age at the time of conviction; 
g. Whether they form part of a pattern of offending. 

 
2. Any other character check considered reasonable (e.g. personal 

references) 
 
3. Any other factors that might be relevant, for example: 

 
(a) The previous conduct of an existing or former licence 

holder; 
(b) Whether the applicant has intentionally misled the council 

or lied as part of the application process; 

(c) Information provided by other agencies / council 
departments; 

(d) Whether the applicant has been subject to 
warning/suspension by the Licensing Office. 

 
It may also be appropriate to consider the sentencing powers engaged by the 
court in disposing of criminal proceedings and Judges reasons for coming to 
that decision. 

 
3.4  Existing holders of driver’s licences are required to notify the licensing 

authority in writing within seven days of receiving a driving licence 
endorsement, fixed penalty notice or criminal conviction (including cautions 
and arrests). Failure to do so will raise concerns as to the honesty of the 
licence holder and may be taken into account as part of any subsequent 
renewal applications or reviews. 

 
3.5  Applicants can informally discuss further what effect a caution/conviction may 

have on any application or existing licence by contacting the Licensing 
Service, details of which are available on the Nottingham City Councils 
website. The Council will not be bound by any advice given and reserve its full 
powers. 

 
3.6  The Council conducts enhanced disclosures from the Disclosure and Barring 

Service (DBS) of any applicant for a driver’s licence. Applicants applying for 
the grant or a renewal of a driver’s licence will be required to obtain an 
enhanced disclosure at their expense, or subscribe to the update service and 
also at other times as determined by the Council (annual).  Where an 
applicant does not sign up to the DBS update service, they will be required to 
complete a manual form on an annual basis again at their own expense and 
also risk a delay is response from the DBS. 

 
3.7  The Council is also entitled to use other records and information that may be 

available to it in determining applications or an entitlement to continue holding 
a licence.  This may include information held by the Council or other licensing 
authorities, and information disclosed by the police. 

 
3.8  It is an offence for any person knowingly or recklessly to make a false 

declaration or to omit any material particular in giving information required by 
the application for a licence. Section 57(3) Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Page 12



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

5 
 

Provisions) Act 1976 Where an applicant has made a false statement or a 
false declaration on their application for the grant or renewal of a licence, the 
licence will normally be refused. 

 
3.9  The Council is not prohibited from taking offences or other information which 

is not specifically identified in this Policy into account. 
 
4 Policy on immediate revocation/suspension of driver’s licence 
 
4.1 If the Council decides to revoke or suspend a driver’s licence, it will then have 

to consider whether that revocation/suspension should take immediate effect 
under Section 61(2B) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 

 
4.2 The Council only has the power to resolve that the revocation/suspension will 

take immediate effect if it appears that the interests of public safety require 
the suspension or revocation of the licence to have immediate effect. The 
phrase “interests of public safety” is not defined and is for the Council to 
determine. However, regard will be had to any risks to public safety arising 
from concerns about the licence-holder’s driving standards, his character 
including but not limited to dishonesty, violent behaviour, involvement in drink 
or drugs, inappropriate sexual conduct, any relevant previous convictions and 
any other matters the Council  may deem relevant. 

 
4.3 The overriding consideration shall always be the safety and protection of 

passengers and the general public.  
 
4.5 Matters such as unemployment and home circumstances will not be taken 

into account when determining whether the revocation or suspension will take 
place immediately and therefore shall not outweigh the public safety factor. 

 
4.6 If it appears that the interests of public safety require the suspension or 

revocation of the licence to have immediate effect, the Council will give notice 
to the driver, which includes a statement to that effect and an explanation 
why, the suspension or revocation takes effect when the notice is given to the 
driver. 
 

4.7   Appeals 
 
Any applicant refused a driver’s licence, or who has their licence suspended 
or revoked has a right to appeal to the Magistrate’s Court within 21 days of the 
notice of refusal [Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, 
s77)]. 

 
5.  Considerations given to Offences  
 
 This section deals with various types of offences and applies to new and 

renewal applications, and upon review of a current licence. Although the 
following sections mainly refer to the “grant” of a licence, references to the 
period to have passed since the completion of any sentence gives an 
indication of the seriousness with which the Council is likely to treat the matter 
and the period the Council would expect to lapse before any subsequent 
application may be likely to be successful. 

 
Page 13



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

6 
 

5.1 Serious offences involving violence 
 
 Licensed drivers have close regular contact with the public. A firm line will be 

taken with those who have convictions for offences involving violence. An 
application will normally be refused if the applicant has a conviction for an 
offence that involved the loss of life. 

 
5.2  Unless there are exceptional circumstances a licence will not normally be 

granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as: 
 

1. Murder; 
2. Manslaughter; 
3. Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving; 
4. Terrorism offences; 
5. Kidnapping or abduction; 

6. Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) 
offences which replace the above. 
 

5.3  A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for 
an offence or similar offence(s) to those below until at least 10 years have 
passed since the completion of any sentence:  

 
1. Arson; 
2. Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm which is racially aggravated; 
3. Actual bodily harm which is racially aggravated; 
4. Grievous bodily harm with intent; 
5. Robbery; 
6. Possession of firearm; 
7. Riot; 
8. Assault Police; 
9. Common assault with racially aggravated; 
10. Violent disorder; 
11. Threats to kill; 
12. Resisting arrest; 
13. Hate crime against a person; 
14. Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) 

offences which replace the above. 
 

5.4  A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for 
an offence or similar offence(s) which replace the offences below until at least 
5 years have passed since the completion of any sentence: 

 
1. Racially-aggravated criminal damage; 
2. Racially-aggravated offence; 
3. Hate crime against property; 
4. Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) 

offences which replace the above. 
 

5.5  A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for 
an offence or similar offence(s) which replace the offences below until at least 
3 years have passed since the completion of any sentence and/or licence 
period: 

 
1. Common assault/Battery; 

Page 14



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

7 
 

2. Assault occasioning actual bodily harm; 
3. Affray; 
4. S5 Public Order Act 1986 offence (harassment, alarm or distress); 
5. S.4 Public Order Act 1986 offence (fear of provocation of violence); 
6. S4A Public Order Act 1986 offence (intentional harassment, alarm or 

distress); 
7. Obstruction; 
8. Criminal damage; 
9. Harassment; 
10. Offences involving anti-social behaviour; 
11. Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) 

offences which replace the above. 
 

5.6  A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one 
conviction in the last 10 years for an offence of a violent nature. 

 
5.7  In the event of a licence being granted, despite convictions against the 

Applicant, a strict warning both verbally and in writing should be administered. 
If a warning is issued, this will remain in place for a period commensurate with 
the time periods in the relevant sections above. 

 
5.8 Possession of a weapon 
 
  If an applicant has been convicted of possession of a weapon or any other 

weapon related offence, depending on the circumstances of the offence, at 
least 3 years must have passed since the completion of the sentence, before 
a licence is granted. 

 
5. 9  Sexual and indecency offences 
 
  As licensed drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable passengers, 

applicants with convictions for sexual offences must be closely scrutinised. All 
sexual offences should be considered as serious. Applicants with convictions 
for sexual offences will normally be refused a licence upon application, 
renewal or review.  
Such offences include: 

 
1. Rape; 
2. Assault by penetration; 
3. Offences involving children or vulnerable adults; 
4. Grooming, Trafficking or other Sexual Exploitation related offences 

(adults and/or children); 
5. Making or distributing obscene material; 
6. Possession of indecent photographs depicting child pornography; 
7. Sexual assault; 
8. Indecent assault; 
9. Exploitation of prostitution; 
10. Any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) 

offences which replace the above. 
 
5.10 Unless there are exceptional circumstances a licence will not normally be 

granted where the applicant has a conviction for an offence, such as: 
 

1. Making indecent telephone calls; 
Page 15



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

8 
 

2. Importuning; 
3. Indecent exposure; 
4. Soliciting (kerb crawling); 
5. Any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) 

offences which replace the above. 
 

an applicant should be free of conviction for at least 5 years before a licence 
is granted (or at least 5 years must have passed since the completion of the 
sentence, whichever is longer),  
 

5.12  A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one 
conviction for an indecency offence. 

 
5.13 In addition to the above the licensing authority will not normally grant a 

licence to any applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or 
any other similar register. 

 
5.14  Dishonesty 
 
  A licensed driver is expected to be trustworthy. In the course of their working 

duties drivers will deal with cash transactions and valuable property may be 
left in their vehicles. Drivers may well deal with customers who are vulnerable 
or intoxicated and potentially easily confused. For these reasons, a serious 
view is taken of any conviction involving dishonesty. 

 
5.15  In general, a minimum period of 3 years free of conviction or at least 3 years 

have passed since the completion of sentence (whichever is longer) should 
be required before granting a licence. Offences involving dishonesty include: 

 
1. theft; 
2. burglary; 
3. fraud; 
4. benefit fraud; 
5. handling or receiving stolen goods; 
6. forgery; 
7. conspiracy to defraud; 
8. obtaining money or property by deception; 
9. other deception; 
10. taking a vehicle without consent; 
11. or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) 

offences which replace the above; 
 
5.16  Applicants or existing licence holders that are found to have intentionally 

misled the council, or lied as part of the application process, will not normally 
be issued with a licence. 

 
5.17  Alcohol and Drugs 
 
 An isolated conviction for drunkenness need not debar an applicant from 

gaining a licence.  In some cases, a warning may be appropriate.  However, a 
number of convictions for drunkenness, including drunk and disorderly or 
drunk and incapable, could indicate a medical problem necessitating critical 
examination and refusal of licence.   

 
Page 16



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

9 
 

5.18 In addition, the applicant will normally be required to show a period of 10 
years has elapsed after completion of detoxification treatment if (s)he was an 
alcoholic. 

 
5.19 A serious view is taken of any drug related offence.  The nature and quantity 

of the drugs, whether for personal use or supply are issues which should be 
considered. 

 
5.20 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has more than one 

conviction for offences related to the supply of drugs and has not been free of 
conviction for 10 years. 

 
5.21 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has more than one 

conviction for offences related to the possession of drugs and has not been 
free of conviction for 5 years. 

 
5.22 An application from an applicant who has an isolated conviction for an offence 

related to the possession of drugs within the last 3-5 years may be granted a 
licence, but consideration should be given to the nature and quantity of the 
drugs. 

 
5.23 If there is evidence of persistent drug use, misuse or dependency, a specialist 

examination (in accordance with the DVLA group two medical standards) may 
be required before the licence is granted.  If the applicant was an addict then 
they would normally be required to show evidence of 5 years free from drug 
taking after detoxification treatment before a licence is granted. 

 
5.24  Driving offences involving the loss of life 
 
 A very serious view is to be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of 

a driving offence that resulted in the loss of life.  A licence will not normally be 
granted if the applicant has a conviction for: 

 
1. Causing death by dangerous driving; 
2. Causing death by careless driving whilst under the influence of drink or 

drugs; 
3. Causing death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers; 
4. Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) 

offences which replace the above. 
 
5.25  Before a licence is granted, an applicant should be free of conviction for 10 

years (or at least 10 years must have passed since the completion of the 
sentence, whichever is longer) if the applicant has a conviction for: 

 
1. Causing death by careless driving; 
2. Causing death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers. 

 
5.26 Driving offences involving alcohol and/or drugs 
 

A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving, or attempting to drive, or 
being in charge of a vehicle while under the influence of drink or drugs.  
Where a disqualification has occurred as a result of a drug or drink-driving 
offence, at least 5 years free of conviction should elapse after the restoration 
of the DVLA licence before an applicant is granted a licence. 

Page 17



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

10 
 

 
5.27 More than one conviction for this type of offence or one such offence within 

the last 5 years is likely to merit refusal. 
 

In addition, applicants will normally be required to show a period of at least 5 
years has elapsed after completion of detoxification treatment if (s)he was an 
alcoholic or drug addict. 

 
5.28 Appendix one sets out the traffic offences which may be considered to fall 

within this section. 
 
5.29  Major Traffic Offences 
 
 Subject to the above paragraphs  an isolated conviction for a major traffic 

offence, without disqualification, such as dangerous driving or driving without 
due care and attention will require careful consideration of the facts and will at 
the very least merit a warning as to future driving and advice on the standard 
expected of hackney carriage and private hire drivers.  However, where the 
conviction is within 6 months prior to the date of the application the 
application will normally be refused. 

 
5.30 In cases of disqualification at least 3 years free from conviction after the 

restoration of the DVLA licence should normally elapse before an applicant is 
granted a licence.  

 
5.31 Where an applicant has been convicted of a major traffic offence which has 

not resulted in disqualification, careful consideration should be given to the 
circumstances surrounding the offence.  An application for a licence will 
normally be refused where the offence occurred less than 2 years prior to the 
application. 

 
5.32 Where an existing licence holder is disqualified from driving as a result of a 

conviction for a major traffic offence, the licence will normally be revoked.  
 
5.33 Where an existing licence holder is convicted of a major traffic offence, but the 

licence-holder is not disqualified from driving, the licence should normally be 
revoked or not renewed and any subsequent application for a new licence will 
be determined in accordance with the guidance above. 

 
5.34 Appendix one sets out the traffic offences which may be considered to fall 

within this section. 
 
5.35 Minor Traffic Offences 
 
 Isolated convictions for minor traffic offences or minor traffic violations may 

not prevent a person from proceeding with an application.  However, the 
number, type and frequency of this type of offence will be taken into account.  
If there are several minor traffic offences an application will normally granted 
unless there is clear evidence of a minimum 6 month period without offending. 

 
5.36 An application with a points total above 7 will merit further consideration. A 

licence will normally be refused where the applicant has 12 or more penalty 
points on his DVLA licence for minor traffic offences but has not been 
disqualified from driving. 

Page 18



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

11 
 

 
5.37 Where an offence has resulted in the applicant being disqualified from driving 

for a period of time this will normally be taken as reflecting seriously on the 
applicant's driving standard.  

 
5.38 Generally, a period of 12 months free from conviction must have elapsed 

from the restoration of the DVLA licence. 
 
5.39 Where an existing licence holder is disqualified from driving the licence will 

normally be revoked by the Head of Service under delegated powers. 
 
5.40 Appendix two sets out the traffic offences which may be considered to fall 

within this section. 
 
5.41 Totting Up Disqualifications 

 
5.42 Where a number of traffic offences have resulted in a driver receiving 12 

penalty points or more on his/her licence the driver will be disqualified from 
driving unless the Court is satisfied that exceptional hardship would be 
suffered by an individual if disqualified.  This is known as a “totting-up” 
disqualification.  Where an applicant has a totting-up disqualification an 
application will usually be refused until a period of between 12 months and 2 
years has lapsed from the restoration of the DVLA licence depending on the 
seriousness of the offences which led to the totting up. 

 
5.43 Where an existing licence holder is disqualified from driving as a result of a 

totting up, the licence will normally be revoked. 
 
 
5.44 Hybrid traffic offences 
 
 Offences of the type listed in Appendix 3 will be treated as major traffic 

offences if the court awarded 4 or more penalty points for the offence and as 
minor traffic offences if the court awarded 3 or less penalty points for the 
offence. 

 
5.45 Any applicant who has committed an offence of plying for hire within 6 months 

of their application will normally be refused a licence.  Any existing licence 
holder found to have committed this offence will be judged on the 
circumstances if the case, and at the least suspension of the licence should 
be considered. Where a driver is convicted on more than one occasion the 
licence may be revoked or not granted. Consideration will be taken if the 
offence of plying for hire was accompanied by the fact that at the time there 
was no insurance cover in place for the vehicle in line with 5.50 below.  It will 
be up to the applicant to prove that there was valid insurance in place at the 
time of the offence. 

 
5.46 Insurance Offences 
 
   A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving a vehicle without 

insurance.  An isolated incident in the past will not necessarily stop a licence 
being granted provided the applicant has been free of conviction for 3 years.  
However, strict warning should be given as to future behaviour. More than 
one of these offences would normally prevent a licence being granted or 

Page 19



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

12 
 

renewed.  Isolated incidents associated with a licensing offence will not 
necessity prevent a licence being granted or renewed.  Each case will be 
prevented on its merits. 

 
5.47 At least 3 years should elapse (after restoration of the DVLA driving licence), 

before a licence would normally be granted for a HC or PH drivers licence.  
An operator found guilty of aiding and abetting the driving passengers for hire 
and reward whilst without insurance will have his operator’s licence revoked 
immediately and prevented from holding a licence for 3 years. 

 
5.48 Breach of Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) ; pedestrianised areas or 

restricted area 
 
5.49 There is a significant issue in relation to drivers breaching TROs in 

Nottingham, especially in relation to driving over/parking up on pedestrianised 
areas and other restricted areas. This poses a safety risk to the public and 
demonstrates a disregard for the law and regulation. On this basis a robust 
approach is taken and any licensed driver found in breach of any TRO or 
found to be in a pedestrianised or restricted area will normally be subject to 
the following minimum sanctions: 

  

 First breach - 2 weeks suspension, minimum; 

 Second Breach  - 4 weeks suspension, minimum; 

 Third Breach - revocation of Hackney Carriage/Private Hire  
    Drivers licence on the grounds of no longer  
    constituting a fit and proper person.   

 
5.50 Any driver to which one of the above sanctions is imposed will not normally 

have a subsequent application granted unless there is clear evidence of a 
minimum 12 month period without offending. 

 
5.51 A map showing restricted areas is available from the Licensing Officer and 

can also be viewed on the Nottingham City Council website. 
 
5.52 Where a breach of TRO is reported to the Licensing Officer: 
 

 We will write to the driver with details of the breach and make a decision 
based on the evidence before us; 

 The driver will then be given an opportunity to request an interview to put 
their case forward.  The onus will be on the driver to contact the officer 
within 7 days of our dated letter to arrange an interview; 

 Following the interview a decision will be made and the driver written to 
with the final outcome; 

 The driver will then have 21 days right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court. 
 

5.53 The Driver Improvement Penalty Point Scheme 
 The Council is considering the implementation of a Driver Improvement 

Penalty Point Scheme (DIPPS). If adopted, this will form  an additional policy 
to this document designed to set the standards expected of drivers by 
Nottingham City Council.  Failure to adhere to the DIPPS policy could also 
result in the review and/or suspension or revocation of a drivers licence. 

 
 
 Page 20



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

13 
 

 
6. GUIDELINES RELATING TO MEDICAL CONDITIONS 
 
6.1 Medical Checks 
 
6.2 In order to meet the “fit and proper” test Licence holders must also be 

physically and mentally fit to drive a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. 
In determining this, the Licensing Authority will have regard to a medical 
report and may also consider any relevant medical evidence from a qualified 
medical practitioner.   

 
6.3 The Council requires applicants to pass a Group 2 medical standard 

examination as set by the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Authority (DVLA) . 
This examination is undertaken on initial application and when licence holder 
reaches  45 years, 50 years, 55 years, 60 years, 65 years and then annually 
thereafter. Applicants who fail the examination will normally be refused a 
licence until the medical examination is passed. Where an existing licence 
holder develops a medical condition which means they will not meet the 
Group 2 medical standard, the licence will normally be revoked or refused. 

 
  

Page 21



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

14 
 

 
Appendix One 
 
MAJOR TRAFFIC OFFENCES 
 
AC10 Failing to stop after an accident 
AC20 Failing to give particulars or to report an accident within 24 hours 
AC30 Undefined accident offences 
 
BA10 Driving while disqualified by order of court 
BA30 Attempting to drive while disqualified by order of court 
BA40 Causing death by driving while disqualified 
BA60 Causing serious injury by driving while disqualified 
 
CD10 Driving without due care and attention  
CD20 Driving without reasonable consideration for other road users 
CD30 Driving without due care and attention or without reasonable consideration for 

other road users 
CD40 Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drink * 
CD50 Causing death by careless driving when unfit through drugs * 
CD60 Causing death by careless driving with alcohol level above the limit * 
CD70 Causing death by careless driving then failing to supply a specimen for 

analysis * 
CD80 Causing death by careless or inconsiderate driving * 
CD90 Causing Death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers * 
 
DD40 Dangerous driving 
DD60 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving a vehicle * 
DD80 Causing death by dangerous driving * 
DD90 Furious driving 
DG60 Causing death by careless driving with drug level above the limit* 
 
 
The above offences marked * are dealt with in the section entitled driving 
offences involving the loss life 
 
DR10 Driving or attempting to drive with alcohol level above limit + 
DR20 Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through drink + 
DR31 Driving or attempting to drive then refusing to give permission for analysis of a 

blood sample that was taken without consent due to incapacity 
DR40 In charge of a vehicle while alcohol level above limit + 
DR50 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drink + 
DR60 Failure to provide a specimen for analysis in circumstances other than driving    

or attempting to drive 
DR61 Failure to provide a specimen for analysis in circumstances other than driving 

or attempting to drive + 
DR70 Failing to provide specimen for breath test + 
DR80 Driving or attempting to drive when unfit through drugs + 
DR90 In charge of a vehicle when unfit through drugs + 
DG10 Driving or attempting to drive with drug level above the specified limit 
DG40 In charge of a vehicle while drug level above the specified limit  
 
 
 Page 22



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

15 
 

 
The above offences marked + are dealt with in the section entitled alcohol and 
drugs 
 
IN10 Using a vehicle uninsured against third party risks 
 
LC20 Driving otherwise than in accordance with a licence 
LC30 Driving after making a false declaration about fitness when applying for a 

licence 
LC40 Driving a vehicle having failed to notify a disability 
LC50 Driving after a licence has been revoked or refused on medical grounds 
 
MS50 Motor racing on the highway 
 
UT50 Aggravated taking of a vehicle 
 
TT99   signifies a disqualification under the totting up procedure 12 or more points 

within three years 
  

Page 23



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

16 
 

 
Appendix Two 
 
MINOR TRAFFIC OFFENCES 
 
CU10 Using vehicle with defective brakes 
CU20 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of use of unsuitable vehicle or 

using a vehicle with parts or accessories (excluding brakes, steering or tyres) 
in a dangerous condition 

CU30 Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s) 
CU40 Using a vehicle with defective steering 
CU50 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of load or passengers 
CU80 Using a mobile phone while driving a vehicle 
 
MS10 Leaving a vehicle in a dangerous position 
MS20 Unlawful pillion riding 
MS30 Play street Offences 
MS40 Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight or refusing to submit to a test 
MS60 Offences not covered by other codes 
MS70 Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight 
MS80 Refusing to submit to an eyesight test 
MS90 Failure to give information as to the identity of driver etc. 
 
MW10 Contravention of Special Road Regulations (excluding speed limits) 
 
PC10 Undefined contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations 
PC20 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with moving vehicle 
PC30 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with stationary vehicle 
 
SPl0 Exceeding goods vehicle speed limit 
SP20 Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle (excluding goods or passenger 

vehicles) 
SP30 Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road 
SP40 Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit 
SP50 Exceeding speed limit on a motorway 
SP60 Undefined speed limit offence 
 
TS10 Failing to comply with traffic light signals 
TS20 Failing to comply with double white lines 
TS30 Failing to comply with a "Stop" sign 
TS40 Failing to comply with direction of a constable/ warden 
TS50 Failing to comply with traffic sign (excluding "Stop" sign, traffic lights or double 

white lines) 
TS60 Failing to comply with school crossing patrol sign 
TS70 Undefined failure to comply with a traffic direction sign 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



ECFPolicyAMRv5August2016  

17 
 

 
Appendix Three 
 
HYBRID TRAFFIC OFFENCES 
 
CU10 Using vehicle with defective brakes 
CU20 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of use of unsuitable vehicle or 

using a vehicle with parts or accessories (excluding brakes, steering or tyres) 
in a dangerous condition 

CU30 Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s) 
CU40 Using a vehicle with defective steering 
CU50 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of load or passengers 
 
SPl0 Exceeding goods vehicle speed limit 
SP20 Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle (excluding goods or passenger 
vehicles) 
SP30 Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road 
SP40 Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit 
SP50 Exceeding speed limit on a motorway 
SP60 Undefined speed limit offence 
 
Other non endorsable motoring offences i.e. no MOT 
 
NOTE: 
 
All offences in Appendix One to Three may also include the following codes: 
 
Aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring 
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 2 (e.g. CU10 becomes CU12)  
 
Causing or permitting 
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 4 (e.g.  becomes CU14)  
 
Inciting 
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 6 (e.g. CU10 becomes CU16) 
 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REGULATORY & APPEALS COMMITTEE – 6 SEPTEMBER 2016 
   

 Title of paper: Introduction of Driver Improvement Penalty Scheme 

 
Director: Andrew Errington 

Director for Community Protection 
 

Wards affected:    ALL 

Report author and 
contact details: 
 

Angela Rawson – Licensing Manager 
0115 876 1749 
Angela.rawson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

Richard Antcliff – Chief ASB, Licensing & Trading Standards Officer 
101  
Ann Barrett – Team Leader, Legal Services 
0115 876 4411 
 

Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder(s) 
(if relevant) 

N/A 

 

Relevant Council Plan Key Theme: 

Strategic Regeneration and Development  

Schools  

Planning and Housing  

Community Services  

Energy, Sustainability and Customer  

Jobs, Growth and Transport  

Adults, Health and Community Sector  

Children, Early Intervention and Early Years  

Leisure and Culture  

Resources and Neighbourhood Regeneration  

 

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):  
 
This report asks members to consider the proposal for the introduction of a Driver Improvement 
Penalty Points Scheme (DIPPS).    
 

 

Recommendations: 

1 Members approve the introduction of the DIPPS in the format detailed in the appendices 
attached to this report. 
 

2 Members allow the changes to be made to the scheme by the Director of Community 
Protection, Chief Licensing Officer,  together with the Licensing Manager, in consultation with 
the Chair of the Regulatory & Appeals Committee and the Opposition Spokesperson. 
 

 
1 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
1.1 The purpose of the scheme is to increase the offer to citizens and visitors alike by 

raising standards of service and also increasing the awareness of drivers to their 
responsibilities and the standards expected of a Nottingham City Council licensed 
driver. 

 Page 27

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Angela.rawson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

2 BACKGROUND (INCLUDING OUTCOMES OF CONSULTATION) 
 
2.1 Nottingham City Council (The Council) has a responsibility to ensure that all drivers 

of Nottingham City Council licensed vehicles adhere to minimum standards and to 
apply these in a consistent and transparent manner. The standards concerned are 
defined by legislation, licence conditions, byelaws adopted by the Council and in 
this Scheme. Together they identify what is expected and required of the trade and 
help to ensure a consistent approach is taken to reach those expectations. 

 
2.2  The Driver Improvement Penalty Points Scheme (DIPPS) is a new non-statutory 

enforcement tool designed to enable Authorised Officers of Nottingham City Council 
to issue penalty points to those drivers licensed by the Council who knowingly and 
persistently fail to meet the required standards, and acts as a first step in ensuring 
compliance with conditions and legislation. It also serves as an early warning 
system to drivers who see fit to ignore their responsibilities or fail to meet the 
requirements of their licence.  

 
2.3  The Council is the Licensing Authority responsible for the licensing of hackney 

carriage and private hire driver, vehicle and operator licenses within its boundaries. 
It is the statutory duty of the Council to ensure that all drivers are ‘fit and proper 
persons and carry out their trade in accordance with licensing legislation and locally 
prescribed conditions. The Scheme will assist in the assessment of whether a driver 
meets the ongoing “fit and proper person” requirement and may ultimately result in 
a driver’ licence being reviewed. 

 
2.4 The aim of the Scheme is to improve overall driver compliance with legislation and 

licence conditions in order to secure overall improvements in driver behaviour, 
customer service and passenger safety whilst addressing low level breaches of 
standards or legislation. Whilst such breaches on their own may not merit 
enforcement action more regular or serious breaches may be an indication that a 
driver is no longer “fit and proper” to hold a licence.  

 
2.5 The Scheme will achieve this by providing drivers with a transparent incremental 

enforcement approach for repeated breaches of conditions and other defined 
standards. The scheme will also enable Authorised Officers to give cumulative 
consideration for repeated breaches.  

 
2.6 The Scheme will not preclude the Council from taking alternative enforcement 

action if it is more appropriate to the circumstances of the individual case.  
 
2.7 Scheme Overview 
 
2.8 Penalty points will act as a formal reprimand endorsed on a Nottingham City 

Council combined drivers record to show that a breach of standards has occurred.  
 
2.9 Drivers may receive a maximum of twelve points per three year rolling period before 

their licence will be reviewed. This means that points will be “spent” after the third 
year. Drivers will be able to check the number of points on their licence by 
contacting the Licensing Team details of which are available on the Nottingham City 
Council website. 

 
2.10 A Penalty Points Notice (PPN) Appendix B will only be issued where an Authorised 

Officer of Nottingham City Council has reasonable grounds to believe a driver is 

Page 28

http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/article/22356/Taxi-Licensing


 

breaching a standard(s) contained within the scheme and has sufficient evidence to 
support such a breach. 

 
2.11 A schedule of standards to which this Scheme can be found at Appendix A and a 

driver will be issued with a copy of this with the penalty point notice.  
 
2.12 A driver can complain about the issue of a notice by way of Nottingham City 

Councils ‘Have Your Say’ procedure. 
 
2.13 Where a driver has exceeded their points limit within a three year period they will be 

requested to attend an Officer Review Meeting (ORM).  The driver will may be 
accompanied at the meeting by a representative or solicitor if desired.  

 
2.14 At the meeting, the driver will be able to explain and comment upon the matters 

being considered by the Reviewing Officer in relation to breaches of the Scheme.  
The Reviewing Officer may also wish to discuss any other relevant information e.g. 
passenger complaints 

 
2.15  Depending on the individual circumstances of each case the Reviewing Officer will 

be able to choose from the following actions:  
 

 Take No Action 

 Issue a Recorded Warning 

 Refuse to Renew Licence 

 Suspend Licence 

 Revoke a Licence  

It should be noted that breach of a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO), pedestrianised 
or restricted area will be dealt with through the Enforcement, Convictions and 
Fitness Policy and will receive one of the following minimum sanctions: 
 

 First breach – 2 weeks minimum suspension 

 Second breach – 4 weeks minimum suspension 

 Third breach – Revocation of Hackney or Private Hire Drivers licence, on the 

grounds of no longer constituting a fit and proper person  

2.16 The driver will be notified in writing of the result of the meeting.  Any driver 
aggrieved by a decision of the Reviewing Officer to either suspend, revoke or refuse 
to renew a drivers licence will have the right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court. 

 
3 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED IN MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 No other options considered 
 
4 FINANCE COMMENTS (INCLUDING IMPLICATIONS AND VALUE FOR 

MONEY/VAT) 
 
4.1 There are no specific financial implications however there will be an impact on staff 

requirements to administer the scheme.  The effect of this will undergo continuous 
monitoring. 

 

Page 29



 

5 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT COMMENTS (INCLUDING RISK MANAGEMENT 
ISSUES, AND LEGAL, CRIME AND DISORDER ACT AND PROCUREMENT 
IMPLICATIONS) 

 
5.1 The proposal is within the Council’s power and appears to be reasonable 
 
5.2 Any person aggrieved by the issue of a penalty notice will have the right to complain 

through the Nottingham City Council ‘Have Your Say’ process within 21 days of issue 
 
6 STRATEGIC ASSETS & PROPERTY COMMENTS (FOR DECISION RELATING 

TO ALL PROPERTY ASSETS AND ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE) (AREA 
COMMITTEE REPORTS ONLY) 

 
6.1 None. 
 
7 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
7.1 The proposal if introduced would be applied to all drivers and would not directly affect 

the user. 
 
8 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS OTHER THAN PUBLISHED WORKS OR 

THOSE DISCLOSING CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 

8.1 None. 
 
9 PUBLISHED DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN COMPILING THIS REPORT 
 
9.1 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as amended) 
 Town & Police Clauses Act1847 (as amended) 
 

Page 30



Appendix A 

Driver Improvement Penalty Points Scheme  

Schedule of Standards 

 

 

*Does not include combined driver licence condition 14 – ‘Acceptance of Hiring’. 

 

Code Breach of Required Standard 

 

Points 

V01 Failure to use Taxi Meter for journeys within prescribed distance 

 

4 

V02 Refusal to accept hiring without reasonable cause 

 

4 

V03 Failure to display driver badge and/or wear identification badge 

 

4 

V04 Driving a vehicle in an unroadworthy condition 

 

6 

V05 Parking a vehicle in contravention of parking restrictions 
 

4 

V06 Failure to display signs or plates correctly, or displaying 

unauthorised signs 

 

4 

V07 Obstruction / failure to comply with reasonable request made by 

Authorised Officers or Police Officers 

 

6 

V08 Failure to convey passengers in a safe and responsible manner 6 

V09 Unacceptable behaviour towards members of public, Authorised 

Officers or Police Officers 

 

6 

V10 Failure to comply with any other Nottingham City Council combined 

drivers and vehicle licence condition not included above * 

 

4 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1  

 

Appendix B 

  

DRIVER IMPROVEMENT PENALTY       
POINT SCHEME (DIPPS)  NOTICE 
 

P
A

R
T

 1
 

D
R

IV
E

R
  

D
E

T
A

IL
S

 

 
Date: 

 
Time: 

 
Location: 

 
Reg No: 

 
Lic No: 

 
Make/Model: 

 
Drivers Name & Address: 
 
 

 
Drivers Badge No: 
 

 
Expiry Date: 

P
A

R
T

 2
 

O
F

F
E

N
C

E
 

Notice is hereby given that on the date specified above you were 
found to be in breach of the Driver Improvement Penalty Points 

Scheme (DIPPS) in respect of the offence code(s) detailed below: 
(see reverse of this form for full explanation of codes) 

INDICATE WITH AN X WHICH APPLY 

 
1 
 

 
2 

 
3 

 
4 

 
5 

6 
 
 

7 8 9 10 

P
A

R
T

 3
 

O
F

F
IC

E
R

  

D
E

T
A

IL
S

 

 
Officer:                                                      Collar No: 
 

 
Officer Signature:                                   Driver Signature: 

Serial Number: (sequential) 

Page 33



 

 2  

 

DRIVER IMPROVEMENT PENALTY     
POINT SCHEME (DIPPS) NOTICE 
 

The indicated points will be recorded on your Nottingham City Council combined 
drivers licence file and will be valid for a period of 3 years from the date this notice 
was issued. If you accumulate 12 or more points within any 3 year period your 
licence will be reviewed by the council.  

You have a right to challenge this Penalty Point Notice within 21 days of this notice 
being issued. Please note that challenges must be made in writing to: Have Your 
Say, Nottingham City Council, Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham NG2 3NG 
or by online form at: http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/abouthaveyoursay. For any 
further enquiries regarding the Driver Improvement Penalty Points Scheme (DIPPS), 
please telephone: 0115 915 6571 (Monday to Friday, 08:30—16:50) or email: 
taxi.licensing@nottinghamcity.gov.uk.  
 
 

Code Breach of Required Standard 

 

Points 

V01 Failure to use Taxi Meter for journeys within prescribed distance 

 

4 

V02 Refusal to accept hiring without reasonable cause 

 

4 

V03 Failure to display driver badge and/or wear identification badge 

 

4 

V04 Driving a vehicle in an unroadworthy condition 

 

6 

V05 Parking a vehicle in contravention of parking restrictions 
 

4 

V06 Failure to display signs or plates correctly, or displaying 

unauthorised signs 

 

4 

V07 Obstruction/failure to comply with reasonable request made by 

Authorised Officers or Police Officers 

 

6 

V08 Failure to convey passengers in a safe and responsible manner 6 

V09 Unacceptable behaviour towards members of public, Authorised 

Officers or Police Officers 

 

6 

V10 Failure to comply with any other Nottingham City Council 

combined drivers and vehicle licence condition not included 

above* 

4 

 

Page 34

http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/abouthaveyoursay
mailto:taxi.licensing@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Adoption of an Enforcement, Convictions and Fitness Policy
	Enc. 1 for Adoption of an Enforcement, Convitions and Fitness Policy

	5 Driver Improvement Penalty Point Scheme
	Enc. 1 for Driver Improvement Penalty Point Scheme
	Enc. 2 for Driver Improvement Penalty Point Scheme


